BYLAWS OF MID IOWA COMMUNITY NEWS

Adopted May 9, 2024

ARTICLE I OFFICES

Section 1. Principal Office. The principal office for the transaction of the business of MID-IOWA COMMUNITY NEWS (hereinafter the "Corporation") shall be located in Story County, Iowa. The initial principal office of the Corporation shall be 2022 Friley Road, Ames, IA 50014. The Corporation may have such other offices, either within or without the State of Iowa, as the affairs of the Corporation may require from time to time, and the address of the registered office may be changed from time to time by the Board of Directors.

Section 2. Registered Office. The Corporation shall have and continuously maintain in the State of Iowa a registered office, and a registered agent whose office is identical with such registered office, as required by the Iowa Nonprofit Corporation Act. The registered office may be, but need not be, identical with the principal office in the State of Iowa, and the address of the registered office may be changed from time to time by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE II MEMBERS

<u>Section 1</u>. <u>Membership</u>. The Corporation shall not have Members.

ARTICLE III PURPOSES

The purposes for which the corporation is formed are exclusively for charitable and educational purposes, within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or corresponding provisions of any subsequent federal tax laws. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing but subject to the limitations of the foregoing, the corporation's purposes shall include the following:

- A. To promote the betterment of society through a well-informed citizenry.
- B. Be the primary source of news and information for the Ames area.
- C. To focus on complete coverage that values local insights, diverse voices, and ethical reporting by producing investigative and public-service journalism.
- D. To prioritize community engagement and empowerment.

ARTICLE IV DIRECTORS

<u>Section 1. Powers.</u> Subject to the limitations of the Articles of Incorporation of the Corporation, these Bylaws and the laws of the State of Iowa, the affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by the Board of Directors.

Section 2. Number and Qualification. The number of the initial Directors shall be no less than three (3) and no more than nine (9). Thereafter, the number of Directors may be changed from time to time by amendment to these Bylaws, provided that the authorized number of Directors of the Corporation shall be not less than three (3). Directors need not be residents of the State of Iowa.

<u>Section 3</u>. <u>Ex Officio Director</u>. In addition to the regular members of the Board of Directors, the Corporation's Executive Director shall serve as an ex-officio non-voting member of the Board of Directors unless such person is otherwise elected to serve as a Board member.

Section 4. Election and Term of Office of Non-Ex Officio Directors. Subject to the provisions of Article III, Section 2. of these Bylaws, (i) the non ex officio Directors shall be elected at each annual meeting of the Board of Directors or at any special meeting of the Board of Directors called for that purpose; (ii) each non ex officio Director shall hold office for three (3) years and until their successor is elected and qualified, or until their death, resignation or removal; (iii) Directors may be re-elected to serve more than one term in office; (iv) the term of office of the initial Directors and all subsequent non-ex officio Directors shall be so arranged so that approximately one-third (1/3) of the terms of the Directors expire each year; (v) the term of office of a Director shall be three (3) years except that one and two year terms may be assigned to Directors to establish the principle of one-third of the terms of Directors expiring annually; and (vi) no elected Director shall continue to serve as a Director after having served three (3) consecutive three-year terms, except that:

- (a) a person who has filled a vacancy for a period of two (2) years or less also may serve three (3) consecutive three-year terms;
- (b) a Director who has served three (3) consecutive three-year terms shall be eligible for re-election after an absence of one (1) year; and
- (c) the immediate past Chairman may remain on the Board of Directors for one (1) year beyond the three (3) consecutive three-year terms.

<u>Section 5</u>. <u>Resignation</u>. A Director may resign at any time by giving written notice to the secretary of the Corporation, who shall advise the Board of Directors of such resignation. Such resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein or, if no time is specified, then upon receipt of the resignation by the secretary of the Corporation, and unless otherwise specified therein, acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.

<u>Section 6</u>. <u>Removal</u>. Any individual Director may be removed from office, with or without cause, at any time by unanimous vote of the Board of Directors, excluding the Director whose removal is under consideration.

Section 7. Disqualifying Activity. In addition to the removal authority granted in Section 6, any Director that engages, or plans to engage, in political activity that includes partisan campaigning for or against a candidate, seeking election (or declaring candidacy) to a public office in a partisan election system, and/or receiving monetary payment from a partisan political campaign shall be disqualified from serving as a Director and shall resign from the Board of Directors. If such Director fails to timely resign, the Director may be removed from office by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the Board of Directors, excluding the Director whose removal is under consideration.

<u>Section 8</u>. <u>Vacancies</u>. Vacancy or vacancies in the Board of Directors occurring for any reason, including an increase in the authorized number of Directors, may be filled by the action of the Board of Directors. Each Director so elected shall hold office for the unexpired portion of the term they were elected to fill and until their successor is elected and qualified, or until their death, resignation or removal.

Section 9. Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors of the Corporation shall be held at such time and place as the Board of Directors may designate, or in the absence of designation by the board, as the president of the Corporation shall designate. An annual meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held without other notice than this Bylaw during the month of January of each year for the purpose of electing officers and for the transaction of such other business as may come before the meeting. In the event of failure, through oversight or otherwise, to hold the annual meeting of Directors in any year on the date herein provided therefor, the meeting, upon waiver of notice or upon due notice, may be held at a later date, and any election had or business transacted at such meeting shall be valid and effectual as if transacted at the annual meeting on the date herein provided.

<u>Section 10</u>. <u>Special Meetings</u>. Special meetings of the Board of Directors for any purpose or purposes shall be held whenever called by the president of the Corporation, or if the president is absent or is unable or refuses to act, by a vice-president, or by two-thirds of the Directors.

Section 11. Place of Meetings. Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at any place within or outside the state of Iowa which may be designated from time to time by resolution of the Board of Directors. In the absence of such designation, meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at the principal office of the Corporation. Other than the annual meeting, any meeting of the Board of Directors may be conducted solely by one or more means of remote communication through which all of the Directors may participate with each other during the meeting. Participation in a meeting by that means constitutes presence in person at the meeting.

<u>Section 12</u>. <u>Notices</u>. Notice of any regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors (other than the annual meeting described in Section 8 of Article III of these Bylaws), in each case specifying the place, date and hour of the meeting, shall be given to each Director by delivering notice, orally or in writing, not more than forty-five (45) days prior to the date of the meeting,

but at least three (3) days before the time set for such meeting or, if notification is by mail, by mailing such notice at least five (5) days before the time set for such meeting. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the United States mail, with postage prepaid, addressed to the Director at their last address as it appears on the records of the Corporation.

Section 13. Waiver of Notice. The transactions of any meeting of the Board of Directors, however called and noticed or wherever held, shall be as valid as though had at a meeting duly held after regular call and notice, if a quorum is present and if, either before or after the meeting, a written waiver of notice of the meeting, containing the same information as would have been required to be included in a proper notice of the meeting, is signed by (a) each Director not present at the meeting, and (b) each Director present at the meeting who objected thereat to the transaction of any business because the meeting was not lawfully called or convened. All such waivers shall be filed with and made a part of the minutes of the meeting.

Section 14. Action Without Meeting. Any action which may be taken at a meeting of the Board of Directors may be taken without a meeting if all the Directors shall consent in writing to such action. Such action by written consent shall have the same force and effect as the unanimous vote of the Directors.

Section 15. Quorum. A majority of the Directors in office shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. Every act or decision done or made by a majority of the Directors present at a duly held meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act or decision of the Board of Directors, unless the law, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws require a greater proportion.

Section 16. Adjournment. Any meeting of the Board of Directors, whether regular or special, and whether or not a quorum is present, may be adjourned from time to time by the vote of a majority of the Directors present. Notice of the time and place of an adjourned meeting need not be given to absent Directors if said time and place are fixed at the meeting adjourned. At any such reconvened meeting at which a quorum is present, any business may be transacted which might have been transacted at the meeting adjourned.

Section 17. Organization. The Board of Directors shall elect its Chairperson and one or more Vice-Chairpersons from among the members of the Board. The Chair shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors at which they are present; any Vice-Chair shall preside at such meetings in the Chair's absence. The Chair and Vice-Chair shall be elected for a term of one year, but shall automatically cease to be Chair and Vice-Chair, respectively, upon termination of directorship on the Board of Directors.

<u>Section 18. Compensation.</u> Directors shall serve without compensation for their services as Directors. Upon resolution of the Board of Directors, the Directors may receive reimbursement of expenses of attendance at any meeting of the Board. Nothing herein contained shall be construed to preclude any Director from serving the Corporation in any other capacity, or receiving compensation therefor.

Section 19. Committees. (a) The Board of Directors may by appropriate resolution designate one or more committees, each of which shall consist of two (2) or more Directors elected by the Board of Directors, which to the extent provided in said resolutions or in these Bylaws, shall have and may exercise when the Board of Directors is not in session, the powers of the Board of Directors in the management of the affairs of the Corporation, except action with respect to election of officers and the formation of and the filling of vacancies in committees pursuant to this section. The Board of Directors may elect one or more Directors as alternate members of any such committee, who may take the place of any absent committee member or members at any meeting of such committee. The designation of such committee or committees and the delegation thereto of authority shall not operate to relieve the Board of Directors or any individual Director of any responsibility imposed upon it or them by law.

<u>Section 20</u>. <u>Executive Committee</u>. The Executive Committee shall be chaired by the President of the Board, and include the Officers of the Board defined under Article V, Section 1 of these Bylaws. The Executive Committee shall have the authority and responsibility to: administer the affairs of the Board between its meetings; and take such other actions as may be necessary and appropriate to carry out the responsibilities of the Board.

<u>Section 21</u>. Other committees. (a) Other committees not having and exercising the authority of the Board of Directors in the management of the Corporation may be designated by a resolution adopted by a majority of the Directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present. Except as otherwise provided in such resolution, members of each such committee shall be appointed by the President. Any member thereof may be removed by the person or persons authorized to appoint such member whenever in their judgment the best interests of the Corporation shall be served by such removal.

- (b) Each member of a committee shall continue as such until the next annual meeting of the Board of Directors and until their successor is appointed, unless the committee shall be sooner terminated, or unless such member be removed from such committee, or unless such member shall cease to qualify as a member thereof.
- (c) One member of each committee shall be appointed committee chair by the person or persons authorized to appoint the members thereof.
- (d) Vacancies in the membership of any committee may be filled by appointments made in the same manner as provided in the case of the original appointments.
- (e) Unless otherwise provided in the resolution of the Board of Directors designating a committee, a majority of the whole committee shall constitute a quorum and the act of a majority of the members present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the committee.
- (f) Each committee may adopt rules for its own government not inconsistent with these bylaws or with rules adopted by the Board of Directors.

- (g) Committees may consist of individuals who are not Directors.
- Section 22. Telephonic/Digital Meetings. Members of the Board of Directors or any committee appointed by the Board of Directors may participate in a meeting of such Board or committee by means of a conference telephone, video, or similar communications equipment by which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other at the same time. Participation by such means shall constitute presence in person at a meeting.

<u>Section 23</u>. <u>Journalistic Decisions</u>. Members of the Board of Directors shall avoid exercising control over journalistic decisions, including, but not limited to, selection of story ideas, publication dates and formats, and publication partners, which shall be responsibilities of the Executive Director. The Executive Director shall keep the Board of Directors informed of major journalistic decisions and will welcome advice and comment from the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE V OFFICERS

<u>Section 1</u>. <u>Officers</u>. The Corporation shall have a president, a secretary, a treasurer, and an Executive Director. Subject to these Bylaws, the Board of Directors may also elect or appoint one or more additional officers or assistant officers as it may deem convenient or necessary. Except as provided in these Bylaws, the Board of Directors shall fix the powers and duties of all officers. The offices of president and treasurer may not be held by the same person.

<u>Section 2</u>. <u>Election</u>. The officers of the Corporation shall be elected annually by the Board of Directors, and each shall hold their office until a successor shall have been duly elected and qualified, or until their death, resignation or removal.

Section 3. The Executive Director. In addition to the foregoing elected officers, the Board of Directors shall be empowered to hire and may remove an Executive Director who shall be the top management official of the Corporation having chief responsibility for fundraising, the Corporation's operations, and such responsibilities and powers as may be delegated to them by the Board of Directors, and shall at all times be subject to the policies, control and direction of the Board of Directors. The Executive Director shall serve in such capacity at the pleasure of the Board of Directors, and Section 2 of this Article IV shall not apply to the Executive Director.

<u>Section 4</u>. <u>Resignation</u>. Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Board of Directors or the secretary of the Corporation. Such resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein or, if no time is specified, then upon receipt of the resignation by the secretary or the Board of Directors as the case may be, and unless otherwise specified therein, acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.

<u>Section 5</u>. <u>Removal</u>. Any officer may be removed from office by the action of the Board of Directors, whenever in their judgment the best interests of the Corporation will be served

thereby.

<u>Section 6</u>. <u>Vacancies</u>. A vacancy occurring in any office, for any reason, may be filled for the unexpired portion of the term of said office by the Board of Directors.

Section 7. President. The president shall have such responsibilities and powers as may be delegated to him or her by the Board of Directors, and shall at all times be subject to the policies, control and direction of the Board of Directors. The president may sign and execute, in the name of the Corporation, any instrument authorized by the Board of Directors, except when the signing and execution thereof shall have been expressly delegated by the Board of Directors or by these Bylaws to some other officer or agent of the Corporation. The president shall have such other powers and duties as may be prescribed by these Bylaws. The president shall, whenever it may in their opinion be necessary, prescribe the duties of other officers and employees of the Corporation, in a manner not inconsistent with the provisions of these Bylaws and the directions of the Board of Directors.

Section 8. Oversight. In the absence or disability of the president, the Secretary shall perform all the duties of the president, and when so acting shall have all the powers of, and be subject to all the restrictions on, the president. The Secretary shall have such other powers and perform such other duties as may be prescribed for them from time to time by the Board of Directors, or these Bylaws.

<u>Section 9</u>. <u>Secretary</u>. The secretary shall:

- (a) Certify and keep at the principal office of the Corporation the original or a copy of its Bylaws, as amended or otherwise altered to date.
- (b) Keep at the principal office of the Corporation or such other place as the Board of Directors may direct, a book of minutes of all meetings of the Board of Directors and committees thereof, with the time and place of holding, whether regular or special and, if special, how authorized, the notice thereof give, and the names of those present at the meetings.
- (c) See that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws or as required by law.
- (d) See that the books, reports, statements and all other documents and records required by law are properly kept and filed.
- (e) Exhibit at all reasonable times to any Director, upon application, the Bylaws and minutes of proceedings of the Board of Directors and committees thereof of the Corporation.
- (f) In general, perform all duties incident to the office of secretary, and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to them by the Board of Directors.

Section 10. Treasurer. The treasurer shall:

- (a) Have charge and custody of, and be responsible for, all funds and securities of the Corporation, and deposit all such funds in the name of the Corporation in such banks, trust companies or other depositories as shall be selected by the Board of Directors.
- (b) Keep and maintain adequate and correct amounts of the Corporation's properties and business transactions, including an accounting of its assets, liabilities, receipts, disbursements, gains, losses, capital and surplus.
- (c) Exhibit at all reasonable times the books of account and records to any Director during business hours at the office of the Corporation where such books and records are kept.
- (d) Render a statement of the condition of the finances of the Corporation at all meetings of the Board of Directors, and a full financial report at the annual meeting of the Board of Directors.
- (e) Receive, and give receipt for, monies due and payable to the Corporation from any source whatsoever.
- (f) In general, perform all the duties incident to the office of treasurer and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to them by the Board of Directors.

Section 11. Assistants. The Board of Directors may appoint one or more assistant treasurers and one or more assistant secretaries to perform such duties as shall be assigned to them by the treasurer or the secretary or by the president or the Board of Directors. The assistant secretaries, in the absence or disability of the secretary, shall perform the duties and exercise the powers of the secretary. The assistant treasurers, in the absence or disability of the treasurer, shall perform the duties and exercise the powers of the treasurer.

ARTICLE VI INSTRUMENTS; BANK ACCOUNTS; CHECKS AND DRAFTS; LOANS; SECURITIES

<u>Section 1</u>. <u>Execution of Instruments</u>. Except as is otherwise provided in these Bylaws, the Board of Directors may authorize any officer or officers, agent or agents, to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation, and such authorization may be general or confined to specific instances. Except as so authorized, or as in these Bylaws otherwise expressly provided, no officer, agent, or employee shall have any power or authority to bind the Corporation by any contract or engagement or to pledge its credit or to render it liable for any purpose or in any amount.

Section 2. Bank Accounts. The Board of Directors from time to time may authorize the opening and keeping of general and/or special bank accounts with such banks, trust companies or other depositories as may be selected by the Board or by any officer or officers, agent or agents of the Corporation to whom such power may be delegated from time to time by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may make such rules and regulations with respect to said bank accounts, not inconsistent with the provisions of these Bylaws, as the Board may deem expedient.

Section 3. Checks and Drafts. All checks, drafts or other orders for the payment of money, notes, acceptances, or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the Corporation, shall be signed by such officer or officers, agent or agents, of the Corporation, and in such manner, as shall be determined from time to time by resolution of the Board of Directors. Endorsements for deposit to the credit of the Corporation in any of its duly authorized depositories may be made without countersignature, by the president or any vice-president or the treasurer or any assistant treasurer, or by any other officer or agent of the Corporation to whom the Board of Directors, by resolution, shall have delegated such power, or by hand-stamped impression in the name of the Corporation.

<u>Section 4. Loans.</u> No loans shall be contracted on behalf of the Corporation and no evidences of indebtedness shall be issued in its name unless authorized by or under the authority of a resolution of the Board of Directors. Such authority may be general or confined to specific instances. No loans may be made to any officer or Director of the Corporation, directly or indirectly.

Section 5. Sale of Securities. The Board of Directors may authorize and empower any officer or officers to sell, assign, pledge or hypothecate any and all shares of stock, bonds or securities, or interest in stocks, bonds or securities, owned or held by this Corporation at any time, including without limitation because of enumeration, deposit certificates for stock and warrants or rights which entitle the holder thereof to subscribe for shares of stock, and to make and execute to the purchaser or purchasers, pledgee or pledgees, on behalf and in the name of this Corporation, any assignment of bonds or stock certificates representing shares of stock owned or held by this Corporation, and any deposit certificates for stock, and any certificates representing any rights to subscribe for shares of stock.

ARTICLE VII INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES AND AGENTS

To the extent permitted by law, the Corporation may indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, other than an action by or in the right of the Corporation, by reason of the fact that they are or were a Director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation against expenses, including attorney fees, judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by them in connection with such action, suit or proceeding if they acted in good faith and in a manner they reasonably believed to

be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe their conduct was unlawful.

To the extent permitted by law, the Corporation may indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action or suit by or in the right of the Corporation to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that they are or were a Director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a Director, officer, employee or agent of another Corporation, partnership, joint venture or other enterprise or as a trustee, officer, employee or agent of an employee benefit plan, against expenses, including attorney fees, actually and reasonably incurred by them in connection with the defense or settlement of such action or suit if they acted in good faith and in a manner they reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation.

To the extent permitted by law, the Corporation shall have the power to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a Director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation against any liability asserted against them and incurred in such capacity or arising out of their status as such, whether or not the Corporation would have the power to indemnify them against such liability.

The indemnity provided for by this Article VI shall not be deemed to be exclusive of any other rights to which those indemnified may be otherwise entitled, nor shall the provisions of this Article VI be deemed to prohibit the Corporation from extending its indemnification to cover other persons or activities to the extent permitted by law or pursuant to any provision in the Bylaws.

ARTICLE VIII PROHIBITION AGAINST SHARING IN CORPORATE EARNINGS

No Director, officer, or employee of or member of a committee of or person connected with the Corporation, or any other private individual shall receive any of the net earnings or pecuniary profit from the operations of the Corporation; provided, however, this provision shall not prevent the payment to any such person of such reasonable compensation for services rendered to or for the Corporation in effecting any of its purposes as shall be fixed by the Board of Directors, and no such person or persons shall be entitled to share in the distribution of any of the corporate assets upon the dissolution of the Corporation.

ARTICLE IX MISCELLANEOUS

<u>Section 1</u>. <u>Fiscal Year</u>. The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be the calendar year unless some other fiscal year is fixed by resolution of the Board of Directors.

<u>Section 2</u>. <u>Corporate Seal</u>. The Corporation has no seal.

<u>Section 3</u>. <u>Amendment</u>. All or any portion of these Bylaws may be amended or repealed by the vote of at least two-thirds (2/3) of the members of the Board of Directors.

<u>Section 4</u>. <u>Gender</u>. Words imparting a particular number or gender shall include the other numbers and genders where the context requires.

<u>Section 5</u>. <u>Cumulative Voting</u>. The Corporation shall not have cumulative voting for any purpose. Voting privileges shall not be split, assigned, or otherwise altered by the Board of Directors or by any Director.

<u>Section 6</u>. <u>Proxies</u>. The Corporation shall not permit voting by proxy in any form at any meeting of the Corporation. Only elected Directors may exercise their individual single vote.

The undersigned,

Lynne Carey, Carolyn Klaus, Charles Weaver, and Allen Weber

Directors of Mid-Iowa Community News, Inc., hereby certify that these Bylaws were duly adopted as the Bylaws of Mid-Iowa Community News by its Board of Directors on *May 9, 2024*.